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In November 1997, Public Law 105-114, delegated the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Resolution Management authority to supervise and control the operation of VA’s administrative Equal Employment Opportunity Discrimination Complaint Process.  The Deputy Assistant Secretary for Resolution Management and District Managers are delegated authority to accept or dismiss discrimination complaints filed by employees, former employees, and applicants for employment.  Within the Office of Resolution Management (ORM), Policy and Compliance is delegated authority to decide breach of settlement agreement claims, resolve claims which express dissatisfaction with the processing of a previously filed employment discrimination complaint, and to monitor agency compliance with the orders and decisions issued by the Office of Employment Discrimination Complaint Adjudication (OEDCA) and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).  Policy and Compliance has no jurisdiction to address breach of non-EEO settlement agreement claims. When such claims are raised, ORM’s Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Program should be contacted for review and response.
Public policy favors the amicable settlement of disputes. It is clear that this policy in favor of settlement of disputes applies particularly to employment discrimination cases. Agencies are encouraged to seek resolution of EEO complaints through settlement at any time during the administrative or judicial process.  Agencies and EEO complainants should be creative in considering settlement terms.
The EEOC’s strong support for settlement attempts at all stages of the EEO complaint process is codified in 29 C.F.R. § 1614.603, which states, “Each agency shall make reasonable efforts to voluntarily settle complaints of discrimination as early as possible in, and throughout, the administrative processing of complaints, including the pre-complaint counseling stage.”  EEOC Regulation 29 C.F.R. § 1614.504(a) provides that any settlement agreement knowingly and voluntarily agreed to by the parties, reached at any stage of the complaint process, shall be binding on both parties. The Commission has held that a settlement agreement constitutes a contract between the employee and the Agency, to which ordinary rules of contract construction apply. Herrington v. Department of Defense., EEOC Request No. 05960032 (1996).  A settlement agreement reached in the administrative process must be in writing and signed by both parties.  Settlements may not involve waiver of remedies for future violations. All settlement agreements must contain the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, 29 U.S.C. § 626, involving waivers of claims.  That is a waiver in settlement for individuals 40 years or older, must be knowing and voluntary.

The relief provided by an agency to settle an EEO dispute cannot be greater than the relief a court could order if that particular dispute were to go to trial.  Parties are encouraged to be creative in resolving an employment dispute and may agree to settle a complaint for relief that may be different than that which a court might order, as long as it is no greater than what a court might order.
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TIPS

1. Use the attached settlement templates when drafting agreements.  The EEO template will be used when a pending EEO complaint is being resolved as a result of the settlement.  The non-EEO template will be used when resolving a workplace dispute where the employee has not filed an EEO complaint.  While the content of these templates can be edited based on the mutual agreement of the parties, use of the documents to ensure legal compliance is recommended by ORM and the Office of General Counsel (OGC).
2. The settlement agreement should be global, i.e., it should cover all causes of action including all EEO complaints, grievances, unfair labor practices, and civil actions, filed prior to the execution of the agreement and identify specifically the complaint(s) withdrawn.

3. Do not provide that the Aggrieved Person/Complainant waives his or her right to file EEO complaints based on future incidents.   

4. Make sure that each provision is written in the agreement and that it describes in detail, the responsibilities each party has agreed to assume.  Ensure the provisions are understandable, comprehensive, and provide specific dates for completion.  That they are clear on who will do what, by when, and how.
5. Include reasonable timeframes for actions to be performed.  If the agreement requires action by Human Resources (HR) ensure the action can be completed within the timeframes listed in the agreement.  For example, do not provide that a promotion will be completed within 30-calendar days if HR has not confirmed that the action can be completed within 30-calendar days.  
6. If leave or payments need to be coordinated with the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) it can take several months to complete the action.  Therefore, include a statement indicating that the Aggrieved Person/Complainant acknowledges that DFAS is a separate entity that administers payments and restores leave.  The Agency exercises no control over, nor is the principle of, DFAS.  The Agency will make all reasonable efforts within (        ) calendar days of the date on which the Employee executed this Agreement to submit to DFAS any paperwork necessary to process an administrative payment or restore leave; however, the Agency makes no representation concerning when DFAS will complete agreed upon payments or leave restoration, if any.   

7. If the Aggrieved Person/Complainant is a former VA employee who has moved to another Federal agency or it is anticipated that the Complainant will leave VA to work for another Federal agency before a settlement agreement is fully executed, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant will need to have their new or anticipated new Federal employer sign off on the settlement agreement indicating that the new employer will restore the leave agreed to in the settlement agreement.  

Alternatively, if the employee does not wish involve his/her new employer in settlement negotiations, the parties can instead agree that the Agency will calculate the monetary value of the leave the Agency agrees to restore and pay the Aggrieved Person/Complainant a lump sum payment in that amount in lieu of restoring the leave.  If a lump sum payment is made in lieu of restoring the leave, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant should be advised that he/she will be solely responsible for all income taxes attributable to the lump sum payment.
8. Make sure the provisions are precisely stated.  Do not, for example, provide that the Aggrieved Person’s/Complainant’s record shall be “purged.”  Provide, e.g., instead, that “the reprimand of July 15, 2016, shall be removed from the Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s official personnel file.”

9. If removal with no intention to rehire the employee is part of the agreement, add Aggrieved Person/Complainant agrees that he/she shall not ever seek, make application for, or accept employment or engagement as an employee or independent contractor with or for the Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, (City, State) and all of its present and future divisions, departments, successors, assigns and representatives.  Aggrieved Person/Complainant agrees that if he/she applies for a position in violation of this Settlement Agreement, VA may reject his/her application, or terminate his/her employment, whether or not he/she is qualified for the position.  Aggrieved Person/Complainant specifically agrees that he/she will have no administrative recourse or cause of action in any forum if VA takes any action described in this clause for the purpose of curing Aggrieved Person’s/Complainant’s breach of this clause.

10. If retirement is part of the agreement, add, “If the employee does not retire by the date specified in the Settlement Agreement the agency may use the Agreement to separate the individual from employment.”
11. The following types of provisions should be avoided because of the ambiguous language and the subsequent problems that arise when interpreting the terms of the agreement.

a. The Aggrieved Person/Complainant “agrees” to do something at some future time.  For example, do not state that the Aggrieved Person/Complainant agrees to submit a copy of the leave she wishes to be restored   
Suggested Language:  Within (90) calendar days following Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s execution of this Agreement, the Agency shall restore 40 hours of annual leave for the time period of August 5, 2016, through 
August 31, 2016.  A copy of the leave which shall be restored is attached to this settlement agreement. 
b. The agency will pay compensatory damages up to a specified dollar amount (e.g., $10,000), subject to proof.  This creates a situation in which the amount of compensatory damages remains unresolved.

Suggested Language: Within sixty (60) calendar days following the Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s execution of this Agreement, the Agency shall pay to the Aggrieved Person/Complainant the lump sum of five thousand and no/100 Dollars ($5,000.00).  Payment will be made by an electronic fund transfer. 

c. The agency will pay “reasonable” attorney’s fees.  This creates a situation in which the amount of attorney’s fees remains unresolved.

Suggested Language: On or before January 31, 2016, the Agency shall pay, on behalf of the Aggrieved Person/Complainant, the sum of five thousand and no/100 Dollars ($5,000.00) in attorney’s fees, and costs.  Payment will be made by an electronic fund transfer to the law firm of Holmes, Holmes & Holmes, 1000 Vermont  Ave., NW, Suite 1000, Washington, DC 20005.
d. Discourage making “will be given priority consideration for the next vacancy” a term of a settlement agreement.  However, if it is done ALWAYS define what is meant by “priority consideration” add that “this does not guarantee a position.”
e. 
Do not include that the facility would provide a “neutral reference.”  Instead, consider attaching an employment reference to the settlement agreement and having the Chief of HR be the contact person for all employment references.  Include what information the Chief of HR is authorized to release, i.e. entrance on duty date, employment termination date, positon title, grade, etc….  
12. Make sure that valuable consideration is exchanged.  A valid contract requires consideration from both parties.  Each party must incur some legal detriment in exchange for the other party’s promise.  If either party incurs no legal detriment, the agreement is void for lack of consideration.  A benefit the Aggrieved Person/Complainant is already entitled to such as, a workplace free from retaliation, to provide a workforce which contains ethnic diversity, to be treated with respect, treated fairly, etc., is not valid consideration. The law already prohibits retaliation and unlawful discrimination.
Consideration requires new, future, clearly defined obligations by both parties to make the agreement legally binding.  Review each party’s obligations to confirm that they are clearly described, not otherwise required, and must occur after the agreement is executed.  
13. The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is not entitled to know what, if any, disciplinary action was taken against the responsible management official or any other employee.

14. Make sure the settlement agreement does not conflict with law or Office of Personnel Management (OPM), Civil Service Retirement System, or Federal Employees Retirement System regulations.  Do not include a provision that is impossible to perform.  For example, if the settlement agreement provides that the Aggrieved Person/Complainant will retire, make sure that the agreement is contingent on OPM’s approval.

15. Settlement for back pay must comply with the Back Pay Act and are coordinated with DFAS, Payroll and Human Resources.  Restoration of back pay must be submitted through the Remedy system.  Please allow for ample time for proper calculations per the guidance from the 5 CFR, as the settlement could include several years of back pay, which may require manual calculations.  

16. Avoid apologies, unless you have made sure that the person involved agrees to apologize and to have the requirement for an apology made a part of the agreement.

17. Do not bind third parties to the agreement.  For example:

Do not provide that the Aggrieved Person’s/Complainant’s Office of Workers Compensation Program claim shall be approved—such a provision would purport to bind the Department of Labor.
Ensure all authorized signatures and parties sign the agreement.  For instance, if the employee is being reassigned to another part of the organization, ensure all authorized signatures from both the losing and gaining part of the organization have signed the settlement agreement.  

18. Avoid confidentiality clauses, which are not a requirement.  It is better not to include a confidentially clause in the agreement.  If you must include one, include some protective language.  Keep in mind that a confidentiality clause cannot prohibit an Aggrieved Person/Complainant from making negative comments to any member of Congress, newspaper or media, or in any other public forums.  To restrict an individual’s rights is unlawful, overly restrictive and limits an individual’s First Amendment Rights
Suggested Language: The existence and terms of this Agreement can be disclosed to individuals with a need‑to‑know.  For example, those persons who are responsible for implementation and/or enforcement of this Agreement, lawful order of any court, legislative or administrative body, etc.  This will not constitute a breach of this Agreement.  The Aggrieved Person/Complainant may disclose this Agreement to his family, his legal advisors, and financial advisors, and shall inform such persons of its confidentiality.  This confidentiality clause does not prohibit the Aggrieved Person/Complainant from complaining to Congress, newspaper, media, or another public forum.
19. Address tax consequences.  Provide, for example, that the Aggrieved Person/ Complainant shall be solely liable for all income taxes attributable to the payment of compensatory damages.

20. Include a severability clause.  If a binding determination is made that any term(s) of this Agreement is/are unenforceable, such unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, and the remaining terms of this Agreement shall, unless prohibited by law, remain effective as if such unenforceable provision(s) was/were never contained in the settlement agreement. Note:  The agency must be certain that the other provisions in the agreement gave the Aggrieved Person/Complainant something of value in exchange for settling the EEO case.

21. Remember that all settlement agreement, regardless of whether age is raised as a basis, must comply with the requirements of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA).  The absence of the following provisions renders the agreement voidable.  If the settlement agreement does not contain the OWBPA provisions, an employee is not required to give back the consideration received for an OWBPA waiver agreement before challenging the overall settlement agreement.  All settlement agreements must include the following provisions:
a.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised to consult with an attorney before signing and delivering this Agreement.  However, the decision whether to consult with an attorney rests with the Aggrieved Person/Complainant.  

b.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised to read the entire Agreement and to seek clarification of any provision(s) (s)he does not fully understand before signing this Agreement.

c.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims that may arise after the date of the Agreement.

d.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims to benefits to which (s)he is entitled.           

e.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has twenty-one (21) days from the date of receipt of this Agreement to consider its terms.  Should the Aggrieved Person/Complainant sign this Agreement before the twenty-first (21st) day, the Aggrieved Person’s/Complainant’s decision to accept a shortening of this period must be knowing and voluntary and must not be induced by the Agency or by anyone else through fraud, misrepresentation and/or a threat to withdraw or alter the terms of this Agreement.  By signing this settlement before the expiration of 21-day consideration period, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant acknowledges that he/she has knowingly and voluntarily waived the consideration period.
f.   
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has seven (7) days from the date that all Parties have signed this Agreement to revoke this Agreement.  The Aggrieved Person/Complainant may revoke this Agreement by delivering written notice of revocation to the Office of Chief Counsel at the following address:

Department of Veterans Affairs




Office of Chief Counsel




(Name of Chief Counsel)




(Street Address of Chief Counsel)




(City, State and Zip Code of Chief Counsel)




(Telephone Number of Chief Counsel)




(Fax number of Chief Counsel)




(Email of Chief Counsel)
g.  
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s relinquishment of these claims and rights is specifically conditioned upon the Agency’s performance of the actions set forth in the settlement agreement.
Ratification of a settlement agreement for individuals 40 years or older should not be made until after the expiration of the seven-day revocation period.  Substantive relief, such as compensatory damages, will be provided after the expiration of the seven-day revocation period.  If an individual wishes to revoke the settlement agreement before the expiration of the seven-day period, they should contact the Office of Chief Counsel.  In all cases, VA Counsel should review the agreement for legal sufficiency.  
For matters arising out of VA Central Office, contact the Personnel Law Group for review (https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/offices/PLG/SitePages/Home.aspx).  
For matters arising out of facilities within the Districts, contact the appropriate District Chief Counsel.  The Offices of Chief Counsel in the Districts can be accessed at:

https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/SitePages/District_Offices.aspx
22.  
Assure that settlement agreements are signed by the employee, when applicable, legal representative, and an authorized VA official.  Request the settlement authority be present or accessible during settlement negotiations, to include alternative dispute resolution (ADR) sessions.  

Do not include a provision that is beyond the authority of the parties to perform or authorize.  Settlement agreements are legally binding and should be signed by the Director of the facility or someone with signature authority to bind the agency.   In Emerson v. Secretary of Army, 01970325 (1997), the EEOC found that it was an error for the alleged discriminating official to sign the settlement agreement.   A settlement  agreement is voidable if the responsible management official (RMO) is the only management official who signs the agreement.  Even if the RMO (the individual alleged to have taken the action claimed to be discriminatory) signs the agreement, to make it a legally binding agreement, it should also be signed by the Director of the facility or an agency official at least one level above the RMO.  If the Director of the facility is unavailable the agreement should be signed by an individual with signature authority, with no connection to the case.  If the Director of the facility is the RMO, the settlement agreement should be signed by the network director or someone at that level with signature authority.  In sum, per EEOC Management Directive 110, the RMO will not serve as the person with settlement authority.  Another individual must be designated to effect the settlement.
23.
In all cases, VA Counsel should review the agreement for legal sufficiency.  Please note that OGC review of this Agreement is only as to its form and legality.  The OGC attorney whose signature appears on the settlement agreement, makes no representations as to the advisability or appropriateness of the settlement terms contained in the settlement agreement. 

For matters arising out of VA Central Office, contact the Personnel Law Group for review 

(https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/offices/PLG/SitePages/Home.aspx).  

For matters arising out of facilities within the Districts, contact the appropriate District Chief Counsel.  The Offices of Chief Counsel in the Districts can be accessed at:


https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/SitePages/District_Offices.aspx
24.
Always include a breach clause in the settlement agreement:

If the Aggrieved Person/Complainant believes that the Agency has breached this Agreement, he/she must notify the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Resolution Management (ORM) in writing, within 30 calendar days after the date of the alleged breach.  If ORM determines a breach has occurred, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant may elect to have this Agreement implemented, or to have any waived or withdrawn complaint(s) or other actions reinstated and processed from the point in the process where processing ceased.  Pursuant to 29 CFR §1614.504,  the Aggrieved Person/Complainant may appeal to the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) if he or she believes that the Agency has either not fully implemented this Agreement or has improperly failed to reinstate his or her complaint.

25.  
Non-EEO ADR Settlement Agreements should contain the following provision:


If the Employee believes that the Agency has not complied with the terms of this agreement, s/he must notify the ADR Program Administrator in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of the alleged violation, requesting that the terms of the agreement be specifically implemented or that her/his right to proceed in an administrative process be reinstated from the date the agreement was reached.  Alternatively, s/he may request to return to mediation to resolve any compliance issues.

26.  
Settlement Agreement Compliance Monitoing:

a.
Facilities must provide the ORM District Office, responsible for processing the EEO complaint a copy of all EEO settlement agrements which resolve a pending EEO complaint.  Settlement agreements should be provided to ORM within 2 days after all parties have executed the settlement agreement, or within 10 days after the 7 day ratificataion period for claims of discrimination based on age, 40 years or older.
b.  
In accordance with VA Directive, 5977  Equal Employment Opportunity Discrimination Complaints Process, EEO Managers are responsible for monitoring compliance with all settlement agreements.  EEO Managers are responsible for providing ORM, Office of Policy and Compliance, compliance reports within 30 calendar days after the final action with all provisions in the settlement agreement have been completed.
c.  
Compliance reports must contain sufficient evidence to show that the facility has complied with each provision of the agreement as written.  The enclosed Evidence Chart for Compliance with EEO Settlement Agreements and OEDCA/OFO Orders provides a list of acceptable compliance documents.  

d.  
All documents included in the compliance report must remove any personally identifiable information to include social security numbers and dates of birth.  Compliance reports should be signed by the senior executive or designee and must be uploaded to the ADRTracker system in Portable Document Format (PDF).  Please make sure the appropriate “document type” is selected when uploading documents to ADRTracker.
e.  
Questions pertainint the EEO Settlement Agreement Complailnce Monitoring may be sent to:  ORMSettlementAgreementCompliance@va.gov
27.    
Breach of EEO Settlement Agreement:
a.  
EEOC Regulation C.F.R. §1614.504(a) provides, in relevant part that if the complainant believes the agency failed to comply with the terms of a settlement agreement, the complainant shall notify the Director of Equal Opportunity (EEO) in writing of the alleged noncompliance within 30 days of when the complainant knew or should have known of the alleged noncompliance.  The complainant may request that the terms of the settlement agreement be specifically implemented or request that the complaint be reinstated for further processing from the point processing ceased under the terms of the settlement agreement.  The Aggrieved Person/Complainant may use VA Form 0860 Breach of Settlement Agreement Allegation, which may be found at:  http://vaww.va.gov/vaforms/va/pdf/VA0860.pdf, or they may submit a statement in writing either by fax or in writing to the address listed below.  


Deputy Assistant Secretary for Resolution Management



Office of Resolution Management (08)



810 Vermont Avenue, N.W.



Washington, DC  20420



Policy and Compliance Manager


Office of Resolution Management (08B)



810 Vermont Avenue, N.W.



Washington, DC  20420

FAX:  (202) 501-2811

b.  
EEOC has held that pursuant to 29 C.F.R. Section 1614.504 (b), an agency has 35 days from the receipt of a complainant's allegation of noncompliance to resolve the matter, or cure any breach that has occurred. Eckholm v. Department of Veterans Affairs, EEOC Appeal No. 0120091193 and Covington v. USPS, EEOC Appeal No. 01913211 (1991).  EEOC has further held that if an agency cures a breach during the 35 day period after the filing of a breach claim, it will be deemed to be in compliance. Caballero v. Secretary of Air Force, EEOC Appeal No. 01A2212127 (2003).
c. 
EEOC has held that any settlement agreement knowingly and voluntarily agreed to by the parties, reached at any stage of the complaint process, shall be binding on both parties.  29 C.F.R. §1614.504(a).  EEOC has also held that settlement agreements are contracts between the complainant and the agency, and it is the intent of the parties as expressed in the contract, not some unexpressed intention that controls the contract's construction.  Eggleston v. Department of Veterans Affairs, EEOC Request No. 05900795 (1990).  In ascertaining the intent of the parties with regard to the terms of a settlement agreement, EEOC has generally relied on the plain meaning rule.   Hyon v. United States Postal Service, EEOC Request No. 05910787 (1991).  This rule states that if the writing appears to be plain and unambiguous on its face, its meaning must be determined from the four corners of the instrument without resort to extrinsic (external) evidence of any nature.  Montgomery Elevator Co. v. Building Engineering Service Co., 730 F.2d 377, 381 (5th Cir. 1984).  EEOC makes determinations about the parties’ intent in accordance with the plain, ordinary and common sense of the words used in the agreement.  Klein v. Department of Housing and Urban Development, EEOC Request No. 059440033 (1994).

d. 
EEOC has also held that absent a showing of bad faith, an agency will not be found in breach of an agreement where it complies with the terms of the agreement within a reasonable amount of time.  Funari v. Secretary of Air Force, EEOC Appeal No. 01941807, 4101/F2 (1994).  Even in instances such as this where a specific time frame has been established for execution of the terms, EEOC has held that the agency was in "substantial compliance" when they completed all of the agreed-upon actions, but not within the agreed-upon time frames and the complainant had not shown he was harmed by the missed deadlines.  Lazarte v. Secretary of Interior, EEOC Appeal No. 01954274 (1996).  

e.  
If the DFAS is involved in restoring leave and or any other benefits, a Remedy Ticket must be submitted to DFAS, within a reasonable amount of time.  DFAS is a separate Federal Agency that was selected by the Office of Management and Budget to process VA’s payroll transactions under the E-Government Act of 2002, e-Payroll Initiative.  While the Agency has no authority over DFAS and cannot control when DFAS will process restored leave or other benefits, the process of requesting restoration of leave through a Remedy Ticket is a ministerial function that must be accomplished within a reasonably short amount of time.  EEOC has held that ministerial nature of the acts required within a reasonable period of time.  Pezzillo v. Secretary of Commerce, EEOC Appeal No. 01A21394 (2002).
f.  
EEOC has held that any additional events that give rise to issues not covered by the terms of the agreement are, in fact, subsequent acts of alleged discrimination.  EEOC Regulation 29 C.F.R. §1614.504(c) provides that allegations that subsequent acts of discrimination violate a settlement agreement shall be processed as separate complaints under 29 C.F.R. §1614.106 or §1614.204 rather than as breach allegations.  Stewart v. USPS, EEOC Appeal No. 01A34625 (2004)  

g. 
ORM, Office of Policy and Compliance (OPC) will conduct a thorough and impartial review of the breach claim.  Within 35 days from the date the breach claim was received by OPC, they will issue a breach decision in writing to the Aggrieved Person/Complainant and to the Field Facility Director.  

h.  
If an Aggrieved Person/Complainant does not receive a breach determination within 35 days from receipt of the breach of settlement agreement acknowledgement letter, they have a right to contact the EEOC.  

i.  
If an Aggrieved Person/Complainant does not agree with the decision, they may file an appeal with EEOC within 30 calendar days of receipt of this determination in accordance with EEOC Regulation 29 C.F.R. § 1614.504(b) (c) and the appeal rights provided in the decision.  An Aggrieved Person/Complainant must provide a copy of the appeal to the agency.  If EEOC determines that the agency is not in compliance with the settlement agreement and the noncompliance is not attributable to acts or conduct by the Aggrieved Person/Complainant, it may order compliance or it may order that the complaint be reinstated for further processing from the point processing ceased, i.e., status quo ante.  Therefore, any benefits received pursuant to the settlement agreement must be returned before reinstatement.  Armour v. Department of Defense, EEOC Appeal No. 01965593 (1997); Komiskey v. Department of the Army, EEOC Appeal No. 01955696 (1996).
28.
For more information pertaining to Settlement Agreements, you may access Chapter 12 of EEOC Management Directive 110 at the following website:


http://www.eeoc.gov/federal/directives/md110/chapter12.html
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                     Fact Sheet

Age Settlement Agreement

Settlement agreements, for individuals 40 years of age or older, must include the legal provisions required by the Older Worker’s Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA).  Agreements which do not meet those requirements cannot be ratified by subsequent actions of the parties.  Unlike with other EEO settlement agreements, employees cannot be required to give back the consideration received for an OWBPA waiver agreement before challenging the overall settlement agreement.
ORM offers the following recommendations to assure that such settlement agreements are legally sufficient under OWBPA.  The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) states:

· The waiver must be easily understood by the Aggrieved Person/Complainant.

· The waiver specifically refers to the rights or claims under the ADEA.

· The Aggrieved Person/Complainant does not waive rights or claims that arise following execution of the waiver.

· The Aggrieved Person/Complainant must receive an exchange in return for withdrawing a complaint.  (Items already required by statute/regulations cannot be included).

· The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised in writing to consult with an attorney prior to executing the agreement.

· The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is given a reasonable period of time in which to consider the agreement:

· At least 21-calendar days to consider the agreement.

· At least 7-calendar days following the execution of the agreement to revoke the agreement.

· The agreement shall not become effective and enforceable until the revocation period has expired.

For more information, you may access the following website http://www.eeoc.gov/press/12-11-00.html . 
Note:  Where age is the only identified basis in the settlement agreement, an agency is prohibited from agreeing to pay attorney fees for the administrative processing of a complaint under ADEA.

You may contact Agency Counsel or Policy and Compliance at (202) 461-0200, if you have any questions.
If you want additional information on the background and regulation authority on OWBPA the following website is provided http://www.eeoc.gov/facts/age.pdf .
INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING AND WRITING EEO SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS

Attached is the settlement agreement template for memorializing resolutions to EEO complaints.     

· Check the case numbers and spelling of the party(ies)’s name(s).  Confirm all names and applicable EEO case numbers to avoid confusion. 

· Carefully describe the consideration for the agreement.  Consideration requires new, future, clearly defined obligations by both parties to make the agreement legally binding.  Review each party’s obligations to confirm that they are clearly described, not otherwise required, and must occur after the agreement is executed.  Agreements too vague for enforcement, not imposing additional requirements on both parties, or for which obligations are met before execution, will lack sufficient consideration to constitute a legally binding agreement.    
· Consider timeframes or deadlines for each obligation.  Unless the party representing the Agency during settlement negotiations can guarantee that a particular action can be completed within a specified time frame, it is best not to agree to any time frame.  However, the agency should also avoid using the term “within a reasonable period of time” since what is consider to be a “reasonable period of time” is subjective and may cause an agreement to failed or lead to an allegation of a breached agreement.                      
· Attach all related documents.  Attach to the agreement and clearly describe letters of resignation, performance appraisals, award recommendations, etc., as appropriate.  Terms calling for a neutral or clean letter of reference should be avoided.  Instead, the parties should agree upon a letter of reference, indicate that it will be provided upon request, and attach it to the agreement.  If circumstances do not allow for attaching the actual document, specify in detail what it will say. 
· Confirm the official with authority to sign the agreement.  Request the settlement authority be present or accessible during settlement negotiations, to include alternative dispute resolution (ADR) sessions.  

· In all cases, VA Counsel should review the agreement for legal sufficiency.  Please note that OGC review of this Agreement is only as to its form and legality.  

The OGC attorney whose signature appears below makes no representations as to the advisability or appropriateness of the settlement terms contained herein.  

For matters arising out of VA Central Office, contact the Personnel Law Group for review (https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/offices/PLG/SitePages/Home.aspx)

For matters arising out of facilities within the Districts, contact the appropriate District Chief Counsel.  The Offices of Chief Counsel in the Districts can be accessed at:

https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/SitePages/District_Offices.aspx
· The highest ranking Agency signatory to the agreement is responsible for ensuring compliance: e.g., by following up with Human Resources and/or Fiscal, when appropriate.  
· All required signatories must sign the agreement before it is effective.  All required parties, including legal counsel, must sign the agreement before the agreement is fully executed and/or effective.  If counsel is not present during negotiations, the agreement should be forwarded to counsel’s prompt review.
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT: EEO CASES 
This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between [Insert name of employee] (“Aggrieved Person/Complainant”) and the Department of Veterans Affairs (“Agency”), collectively referred to as the “Parties.”  For and in consideration of the promises and covenants herein contained, the Parties hereby agree that:

WHEREAS, the Parties to this Agreement wish to fully and finally resolve and settle all claims between them arising out of all claims, complaints, and actions Aggrieved Person/Complainant has or may have against the Agency, including, but not limited to, claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, claims of emotional distress, or physical injuries that allegedly arose from emotional stress, and any other federal or state claim, including both civil or criminal claims.

1. Withdrawal and Waiver: 

a. In consideration of the settlement terms referenced in Paragraph 2 and any other covenant made by the Agency in this Agreement, Aggrieved Person/Complainant hereby voluntarily withdraws any and all pending informal and formal EEO complaints, any appeals to the Merit Systems Protection Board, any complaints before the Office of Special Counsel, any grievances, whether formal or informal, any court actions, and all other claims arising under any federal, state, or local law, regulation, or ordinance, against the Agency, its past and present administrators or employees, in their personal or official capacities, in any stage of processing in their entirety, including, but not limited to, EEO Case No(s). _____________________________________________________________________.

b. Except as provided for in this Agreement and in exchange for the terms provided, Aggrieved Person/Complainant hereby settles, waives, withdraws, and forever discharges the Agency, it’s past and present administrators or employees, in their personal or official capacities, from any and all complaints, claims, grievances, appeals, expenses, and damages of any kind, which are or may be asserted by the Aggrieved Person/Complainant or on the Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s behalf, based on any event occurring before the Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s execution of this Agreement.

2. Agency Obligations: 

As due consideration for the Parties’ mutual undertakings and obligation(s) provided for in this Agreement, including but not limited to Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s immediate dismissal of all complaints discussed heretofore, the Parties hereby agree to the following:

a. (Specify, in detail and including timeframes, whatever terms have been agreed upon—ensure that every deadline is reasonable!)

3. Enforcement:
If the Aggrieved Person/Complainant believes that the Agency has breached this Agreement, he/she must notify the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Resolution Management (ORM) in writing, within 30 calendar days after the date of the alleged breach.  If ORM determines a breach has occurred, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant may elect to have this Agreement implemented, or 
to have any waived or withdrawn complaint(s) or other actions reinstated and processed from 
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the point in the process where processing ceased.  Pursuant to 29 CFR §1614.504,  the Aggrieved Person/Complainant may appeal to the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) if he or she believes that the Agency has either not fully implemented this Agreement or has improperly failed to reinstate his or her complaint.

4. Further Understandings:
a. This Agreement does not constitute and shall not be construed as an admission of guilt, liability, wrongdoing, or violation of any federal or state statute or regulation by the Agency or the Aggrieved Person/Complainant and is entered into solely to resolve the subject matter of this Agreement.  This Agreement and any provided settlement hereunder is made solely in consideration of the covenants made herein and to avoid further cost and expense associated with the allegations and claims made by the Aggrieved Person/Complainant.

b. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Parties and fully supersedes any and all prior agreements or understandings pertaining to the subject matter.  No other oral or written terms or commitments exist between the Parties. 

c. This Agreement addresses unique circumstances and shall not serve as precedent or past practice for resolving any other matter involving the Agency.

d. If applicable, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant acknowledges that the Defense Finance and Accounting Services (DFAS) is a separate entity that administers payments and restores leave.  The Agency exercises no control over, nor is the principle of, DFAS.  The Agency will make all reasonable efforts within (        ) calendar days of the date on which the Aggrieved Person/Complainant executed this Agreement to submit to DFAS any paperwork necessary to process an administrative payment or restore leave; however, the Agency makes no representation concerning when DFAS will complete agreed upon payments or leave restoration, if any.

e. The Aggrieved Person/Complainant shall be solely responsible for the payment of attorney fees and costs, if any, related to prosecution of discrimination complaints and other actions against the Agency referenced in paragraph 1.

f. The Aggrieved Person/Complainant shall be solely responsible for the payment of all taxes, if any, attributable to this Agreement.  The Agency makes no representations concerning the tax consequences of this Agreement.

g. This Agreement shall be made a part of the record of the Aggrieved Person/Complainant's above-referenced discrimination complaint(s) and remains enforceable under the jurisdiction of the EEOC following dismissal of this case.

h. If a binding determination is made that any term(s) of this Agreement is/are unenforceable, such unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement, and the remaining terms of this Agreement shall, unless prohibited by law, remain effective as if such unenforceable provision(s) was/were never contained herein.
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i. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a writing signed by all Parties.  Further, the Parties agree and acknowledge no presumption or conclusion of any kind 
shall be drawn against the drafter(s) of this Agreement.  The Parties also agree and acknowledge that both the Aggrieved Person/Complainant and the Agency contributed to the final version of this Agreement through comments and negotiations.

j. The Aggrieved Person/Complainant enters into this Agreement voluntarily without duress or coercion.  The Aggrieved Person/Complainant fully understands all the terms of this Agreement and is aware of the right to consult an attorney.  Further, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant has not waived any rights or claims that may arise after this Agreement is executed or that the Aggrieved Person/Complainant is otherwise entitled.  

5.     
Solely as to any claim of discrimination based on age, 40 years or older, the Parties agree that this Agreement complies with the requirements of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act.  In particular, The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is hereby advised of the following:
a.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised to consult with an attorney before signing and delivering this Agreement.  However, the decision whether to consult with an attorney rests with the Aggrieved Person/Complainant.  

b.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised to read the entire Agreement and to seek clarification of any provision(s) (s)he does not fully understand before signing this Agreement.

c.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims that may arise after the date of the Agreement.

d.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims to benefits to which (s)he is entitled.           

e.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has twenty-one (21) days from the date of receipt of this Agreement to consider its terms.  Should the Aggrieved Person/Complainant sign this Agreement before the twenty-first (21st) day, the Aggrieved Person’s/Complainant’s decision to accept a shortening of this period must be knowing and voluntary and must not be induced by the Agency or by anyone else through fraud, misrepresentation and/or a threat to withdraw or alter the terms of this Agreement.  By signing this settlement before the expiration of 21-day consideration period, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant acknowledges that he/she has knowingly and voluntarily waived the consideration period.

f.     
The Aggrieved Person/Complainant is advised that (s)he has seven (7) days from the date that all Parties have signed this Agreement to revoke this Agreement.  The Aggrieved Person/Complainant may revoke this Agreement by delivering written notice of revocation to the Office of Chief Counsel at the following address:
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Department of Veterans Affairs




Office of Chief Counsel




(Name of Chief Counsel)




(Street Address of Chief Counsel)




(City, State and Zip Code of Chief Counsel)




(Telephone Number of Chief Counsel)




(Fax number of Chief Counsel)





(Email of Chief Counsel)
g.     The Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s relinquishment of these claims and rights is specifically conditioned upon the Agency’s performance of the actions set forth herein.

This Agreement shall be effective upon the last required signature identified below or, in the case of a claim of age discrimination, upon expiration of the 7-day revocation period.

FOR THE AGGRIEVED PERSON/COMPLAINANT:

___________________________________

__________________________

Aggrieved Person/Complainant’s Name


Date

___________________________________

__________________________

Representative's Name (if any)



Date

FOR THE DEPARTMENT:

___________________________________

__________________________

Authorized Agency Official’s Name


Date

REQUIRED LEGAL SUFFICIENCY REVIEW BY AGENCY COUNSEL

Please note that OGC review of this settlement agreement is only as to its form and legality.  The OGC attorney whose signature appears below makes no representations as to the advisability or appropriateness of the settlement terms contained herein.
___________________________________

__________________________

Counsel for the Agency




Date
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT: NON-EEO CASES

This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between [Insert name of employee] (“Employee”) and the Department of Veterans Affairs, [specify the administration or staff office] (“Agency”), collectively referred to as the “Parties.”  For and in consideration of the promises and covenants herein contained, the Parties hereby agree that:  

1. Withdrawal and Waiver:
In consideration of the settlement terms referenced in Paragraph 2 and any other covenant made by the Agency in this Agreement, Employee hereby voluntarily waives, withdraws, and forever discharges the Agency from any and all actions, claims, complaints, EEO complaints, grievances, appeals, proceedings, and court actions, of whatever nature and in any stage of processing and in any forum, filed against the Agency, its past and present officers and employees, in their personal as well as their official capacities, concerning any act that took place prior to the date on which the Employee executed this Agreement.

2. Agency Obligation(s):

As due consideration for the Parties’ mutual undertakings and obligation(s) provided for in this Agreement, including but not limited to Employee’s immediate dismissal of all complaints discussed heretofore, the Parties hereby agree to the following:

a. (Specify, in detail and including timeframes, whatever terms have been agreed upon-ensure that every deadline is reasonable!)

3. Enforcement:

If the Employee believes that the Agency has not complied with the terms of this Agreement, the Employee may notify the ADR Program Administrator in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of the alleged violation, requesting that the terms of the Agreement be specifically implemented.  Alternatively, the Employee may request to return to mediation to resolve any compliance issues.

4. Further Understandings: 

a. This Agreement does not constitute and shall not be construed as an admission of guilt, liability, wrongdoing, or violation of any federal or state statute or regulation by the Agency or the Employee and is entered into solely to resolve the subject matter of this Agreement.  This Agreement and any provided settlement hereunder is made solely in consideration of the covenants made herein and to avoid further cost and expense associated with the allegations and claims made by the Employee.

b. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Parties and fully supersedes any and all prior agreements or understandings pertaining to the subject matter.  No other oral or written terms or commitments exist between the Parties.

c. This Agreement addresses unique circumstances and shall not serve as a precedent or past practice for resolving any other matter involving the Agency.
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d. If applicable, the Aggrieved Person/Complainant acknowledgesthat the Defense Finance and Accounting Services (DFAS) is a separate entity that administers payments and restores leave.  The Agency will make all reasonable efforts within (        ) calendar days of the date on which the Employee executed this Agreement to submit to DFAS any paperwork necessary to process an administrative payment or restore leave; however, the Agency makes no representation concerning when DFAS will complete agreed upon payments or leave restoration, if any.  

e. The Employee shall be solely responsible for the payment of attorney fees and costs, if any, related to prosecution of complaints and other actions against the Agency referenced in paragraph 1.

f. The Employee shall be solely responsible for the payment of all taxes, if any, attributable to this Agreement.  The Agency makes no representations concerning the tax consequences of this Agreement.

g. If a binding determination is made that any term(s) of this Agreement is/are unenforceable, such unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement, and the remaining terms of this Agreement shall, unless prohibited by law, remain effective as if such unenforceable provision(s) was/were never contained herein.

h. The Employee enters into this Agreement voluntarily without duress or coercion.  The Employee fully understands all the terms of this Agreement and is aware of the right to consult an attorney.  Further, the Employee has not waived any rights or claims that may arise after this Agreement is executed or that the Employee is otherwise entitled.  

5.     
Solely as to any claim of discrimination based on age, 40 years or older, the Parties agree that this Agreement complies with the requirements of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act.  In particular, The Employee is hereby advised of the following:
a.     
The Employee is advised to consult with an attorney before signing and delivering this Agreement.  However, the decision whether to consult with an attorney rests with the Employee.  

b.     
The Employee is advised to read the entire Agreement and to seek clarification of any provision(s) (s)he does not fully understand before signing this Agreement.

c.     
The Employee is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims that may arise after the date of the Agreement.

d.     
The Employee is advised that (s)he has not waived any rights or claims to benefits to which (s)he is entitled.           
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e.     
The Employee is advised that (s)he has twenty-one (21) days from the date of receipt of this Agreement to consider its terms.  Should the Employee sign this Agreement before the twenty-first (21st) day, Employee’s decision to accept a shortening of this period must be knowing and voluntary and must not be induced by the Agency or by anyone else through fraud, misrepresentation and/or a threat to withdraw or alter the terms of this Agreement.  By signing this settlement before the expiration of 21-day consideration period, the Employee acknowledges that he/she has knowingly and voluntarily waived the consideration period.
f.      
The Employee is advised that (s)he has seven (7) days from the date that all Parties have signed this Agreement to revoke this Agreement.  The Employee may revoke this Agreement by delivering written notice of revocation to the Office of Chief Counsel at the following address:




Department of Veterans Affairs




Office of Chief Counsel




(Name of Chief Counsel)




(Street Address of Chief Counsel)




(City, State and Zip Code of Chief Counsel)




(Telephone Number of Chief Counsel)




(Fax number of Chief Counsel)




(Email of Chief Counsel)

g.     The Employee’s relinquishment of these claims and rights is specifically conditioned upon the Agency’s performance of the actions set forth herein.

This Agreement shall be effective upon the last required signature identified below or, in the case of a claim of age discrimination, upon expiration of the 7-day revocation period.

FOR THE EMPLOYEE:

___________________________________

__________________________

Employee’s Name





Date

___________________________________

__________________________

Representative's Name (if any)



Date

FOR THE DEPARTMENT:

___________________________________

__________________________

Management Official’s Name



Date
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___________________________________

__________________________

Representative's Name (if any)



Date

REQUIRED LEGAL SUFFICIENCY REVIEW BY AGENCY COUNSEL

Please note that OGC review of this Agreement is only as to its form and legality.  The OGC attorney whose signature appears below makes no representations as to the advisability or appropriateness of the settlement terms contained herein.
___________________________________

__________________________

Counsel for the Agency




Date
Signers' Initials ______  ______  ______  ______
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Sample Settlement Agreement Compliance Monitoring Report
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Evidence Chart for Compliance with EEO Settlement Agreements 

and OEDCA/OFO Orders

	Settlement Agreement Terms
	Documentation for Compliance Reporting

	Attorney Fees
	A copy of the check or voucher showing the check/voucher number, date paid, dollar amount paid and recipient’s name.

	Awards:  (i.e., Performance Award, Quality Step Increase, Special Contribution Award,)
	A copy of the Personnel Action (SF-50) or award documentation.  If the award is monetary, a copy of the check or voucher showing the check/voucher number, date paid, dollar amount paid and recipient’s name.  

	Back Pay with Interest
	A copy of the back pay and interest calculations, plus a copy of the check or voucher showing the check/voucher number, date paid, dollar amount paid and recipient’s name.

	Compensatory Damages
	A copy of the check or voucher showing the check/voucher number, date paid, dollar amount paid and recipient’s name.

	Expungement of Records (i.e., Terminations, Written Counseling, Demotions, Reprimands, Suspensions)
	Written notice from appropriate facility management official indicating the date records were expunged from the complainant’s OPF as well as a screen shot from e-OPF showing that the document was removed from the e-OPF system.

	Leave Restoration
	A signed statement indicating the dates, types of leave, and amount of leave restored, along with a copy of the individual’s leave and earnings statement or time and attendance records showing the restored leave.

	Letter of Apology
	A copy of the signed and dated letter to the complainant.

	Letter to employee stating that the agency will cease discriminatory actions found in the case
	A copy of the signed and dated letter to the complainant indicating this and including statement that no reprisal will be taken against employee for exercising their right to file a complaint.

	Lump Sum Payment
	A copy of the check or voucher showing the check/voucher number, date paid, dollar amount paid and recipient’s name.

	Offer of Position
	A copy of the signed and dated letter offering employee the specified position.  A SF-50 to indicate employee was placed into position offered or copy of employee’s declination of position offered.

	Office space relocation
	A signed statement indicating the location and date the move occurred.

	Personnel Action (i.e., Reinstatement, Reassignment, Promotion)
	A copy of the signed and dated Personnel Action SF-50.

	Posting Notice of Violation
	A copy of the signed and dated posting notice.

	Training
	Type of training provided along with the date of training and proof of attendance. 
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